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Independent Auditor’s Report0F 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the 
Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries, as of 
December 31 2023, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2023, the Company changed its method 
of accounting for credit losses on financial instruments due to the adoption of Accounting Standards 
Codification Topic 326: Financial Instruments – Credit Losses. Our opinion is not modified with respect to 
this matter. 

Prior Year Audited by Other Auditors 

The 2022 financial statements were audited by other auditors, and their report thereon, dated March 31, 
2023, expressed an unmodified opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, within one year after the date that the consolidated financial 
statements are available to be issued. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole. The accompanying supplementary information listed in the table of contents is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
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accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we also have issued our report dated March 28, 2024, 
on our consideration of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
 

 
 
Fort Wayne, Indiana 
March 28, 2024 
 
Name of Engagement Executive: Matthew Stout, CPA 

Federal Employer Identification Number: 44-0160260



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

2023 2022

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 25,120,714$    85,673,138$    

Available-for-sale securities, at fair value 45,612 61,507

Equity securities, at fair value 16,803,275 9,522,489       

Held-to-maturity securities, at amortized cost 17,110,365 11,527,546

Investment in non-marketable equity securities 1,093,075 1,093,075       

Federal Home Loan Bank stock 6,030,000 4,275,000       

Loans and financings held for sale or

assignment, at fair value 63,883,059 64,776,830     

Loans and financings, net of allowance for credit

losses of $4,429,843 and $3,560,005 729,673,890 553,888,655   

Premises and equipment, net 8,453,688 8,931,136       

Mortgage and financing servicing rights 40,530,048 32,970,830     

Accounts receivable and advances to fund loans 5,860,819 8,240,616       

Accrued interest and financing income receivable 3,181,340 2,153,584       

Prepaid expenses 5,439,050 3,873,963       

Prepaid income taxes 1,782,751       1,628,357       

Real estate owned, net 593,478 -                  

Derivatives 986,989 1,568,829       

Goodwill 422,981 422,981          

Customer relationships, net 382,761          444,829          

Operating lease right of use assets 4,132,599 3,119,662       

Other assets 104,756 62,386            

Total assets 931,631,250$   794,235,413$   

December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 4



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)  

2023 2022

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES

Deposits:
Demand - non-interest bearing 375,459,874$  346,443,978$  

Demand - interest bearing and profit sharing 13,815,526 12,684,935     

Savings 527,767 579,655 

Time 41,654,794 3,578,113       

Brokered time 243,532,000 242,493,000   

Total deposits 674,989,961   605,779,681   

Derivatives 825,479 - 

Accounts payable 1,212,924 1,215,905       

Accrued interest and profit sharing payable 1,846,684 741,457 

Allowance for loan and financing recourse 549,398 616,546 

Escrow, mortgage and financing
insurance liabilities 590,335 548,515 

Liability to fund closed but undisbursed loans 

and financings 1,511,000       193,319 

Deferred income taxes 8,926,623 6,914,183       

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,166,974 8,276,810       

Line of credit 1,000,000       - 

Federal Home Loan Bank advances 105,000,000   50,000,000     

Subordinated debt 27,403,539     14,125,536     

Operating lease liability 4,165,390 3,063,135       

Loan repurchase liability 3,861,742 14,568,065     

Accrued preferred dividends - 270,972 

Total liabilities 837,050,049   706,314,124   

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

EQUITY

University Bancorp, Inc. stockholders' equity:

Common stock 52,069 52,069 

Preferred stock; liquidation value $2,400,000 

at December 31, 2022 - 24 

Treasury stock, at cost (338,298)         (2,510,298)      

Additional paid-in capital 7,978,048 10,150,024     

Retained earnings 76,279,027 70,992,869     

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (470) (1,163) 

Equity attributable to stockholders of University 

Bancorp, Inc. 83,970,376     78,683,525     

Noncontrolling interest 10,610,825 9,237,764       

Total equity 94,581,201     87,921,289     

Total liabilities and equity 931,631,250$  794,235,413$  

December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 5



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2023 2022

Interest and financing income:

Interest and fees on loans and financing income 42,265,128$     20,594,330$     

Interest on securities:

U.S. government agencies 387,569           168,911           

Other securities 183,019           45,027             

Interest on federal funds and other 4,924,815        1,433,596        

Total interest and financing income 47,760,531      22,241,864      

 

Interest and profit sharing expense:

Interest and profit sharing on deposits:

Demand 348,606           141,937           

Savings 4,512               1,066               

Time 12,562,706      961,628           

Short-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances 507,320           630,330           

Long-term debt 3,080,139        93,153             

Total interest and profit sharing expense 16,503,283      1,828,114        

Net interest and financing income 31,257,248      20,413,750      

Provision for credit losses 961,795           (33,289)           

Net interest and financing income after

         provision for credit losses 30,295,453      20,447,039      

Noninterest income:

Loan and financing servicing and 

sub-servicing fees 21,878,026      24,450,951      

Origination and other fees 8,970,716        10,360,291      

Gain on sale of mortgage loans, net, and fee

income for assignment of financings 27,211,023      29,752,459      

Insurance & investment agency fee income 1,549,186        1,440,207        

Deposit service charges and fees 64,212             49,851             

Change in fair value of mortgage and financing 
servicing rights (1,694,134)      7,473,411        

Change in fair value of contingent consideration
liability -                  132,194           

Change in fair value of loans and financings 

held for sale or assignment, interest and

financing rate locks, and forward commitments 456,304           (1,864,049)      

Realized and unrealized loss on equity securities (1,685,228)      (1,381,075)      

Other income 1,057,560        1,421,647        

Total noninterest income 57,807,665 71,835,887

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 6



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)  

2023 2022

Noninterest expense:

Compensation and benefits 54,185,523$    59,301,683$    

Occupancy 3,081,789       3,357,383       

Data processing and equipment 8,107,382       8,873,763       

Legal and audit 1,711,378       1,224,561       

Consulting 2,128,050       1,983,608       

Mortgage banking 3,223,635       5,694,685       

Advertising 1,023,466       1,027,946       

Membership and training 779,186          954,250          

Travel and entertainment 839,364          1,028,217       

Supplies and postage 1,576,103       1,698,475       

Insurance 437,487          700,187          

Director related 500,100          429,700          

FDIC assessments 583,219          133,416          

Amortization of customer relationships 62,068            62,068

Other operating 793,842 481,064          

Total noninterest expense 79,032,592     86,951,006     

Income before income taxes 9,070,526       5,331,920       

Income tax expense 2,270,907       1,119,047       

Net income 6,799,619$      4,212,873$      

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 7



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)  

2023 2022

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Net income 6,799,619$   4,212,873$   

Net unrealized gain (loss) on debt securities

available-for-sale 693 (2,674) 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 6,800,312$   4,210,199$   

Net income and comprehensive income

attributable to the noncontrolling interest 1,373,061$   423,473$   

Net income attributable to stockholders

of University Bancorp, Inc. 5,426,558$   3,789,400$   

Comprehensive income attributable to

stockholders of University Bancorp, Inc. 5,427,251$   3,786,726$   

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share attributable to common

stockholders of University Bancorp, Inc. 1.07$   0.74$   

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common

stockholders of University Bancorp, Inc. 1.07$   0.73$   

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 4,936,751       4,919,463       

Diluted 4,936,751       4,937,034       

Dividends declared per common share -$  0.45$  

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 8



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY  

Accumulated

Other

Compre-

Additional hensive Non-

Number Par Number Par Number Paid-in Retained Income controlling

of Shares Value of Shares Value of Shares Cost Capital Earnings (Loss) Interest Total

Balance at January 1, 2022 5,206,899 52,069$    24,000 24$       317,381 (2,872,298)$     10,150,024$  69,672,712$   1,511$          8,814,291$     85,818,333$     

Exercise of stock options - - - - (40,000)        362,000          - (82,000) - - 280,000 

Common stock dividends - - - - - - - (2,218,283)    - - (2,218,283)       

Preferred dividends - - - - - - - (168,960)       - - (168,960) 

Net unrealized gain on debt

securities available-for-sale - - - - - - - - (2,674)          - (2,674) 

Net income - - - - - - - 3,789,400      - 423,473 4,212,873        

Balance at December 31, 2022 5,206,899   52,069     24,000     24 277,381        (2,510,298)     10,150,024   70,992,869    (1,163)          9,237,764      87,921,289      

Preferred dividends - - - - - - - (140,400)       - - (140,400) 

Conversion of preferred stock - - (24,000)    (24) (240,000) 2,172,000       (2,171,976)    - - - - 

Net unrealized loss on debt

securities available-for-sale - - - - - - - - 693 - 693 

Net income - - - - - - - 5,426,558      - 1,373,061 6,799,619        

Balance at December 31, 2023 5,206,899 52,069$    - -$  37,381 (338,298)$    7,978,048$    76,279,027$   (470)$      10,610,825$   94,581,201$     

 authorized

$.01 par value,

University Bancorp, Inc. Stockholders'

$.001 par value,

 authorized

Common Stock, Preferred Stock,

6,000,000 shares 500,000 shares

Treasury Stock

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 9



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

2023 2022

OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Net income 6,799,619$         4,212,873$         

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

flows from operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 1,706,799          1,895,237          

Amortization of discount on purchased loans

held for investment (57,190)              (150,986)            

Amortization of subordinated debt issuance costs 106,273             -                     

Change in fair value of mortgage and financing 

servicing rights 1,694,134          (7,473,411)         

Change in fair value of contingent consideration

liability -                     (132,194)            

Change in fair value of loans and financings 

held for sale or assignment, interest and

financing rate locks, and forward commitments (456,304)            1,864,049          

Foreign currency exchange (gain) loss (166,081)            -                     

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense 2,012,440          (3,004,934)         

Provision for credit losses 961,795             (33,289)              

Net gain on sale of mortgage loans and fee

income for assignment of financings (27,211,023)       (29,752,459)       

Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (115,820)            1,384,108          

Realized (gain) loss on sale of equity securities 1,801,048          (3,033)                

Net amortization on securities held-to-maturity (325,427)            5,452                 

Originations of mortgage loans and financings (999,889,713)     (1,310,246,134)  

Proceeds from mortgage loan sales and 

assignment of financings 1,021,855,311   1,399,467,920   

Non-cash lease expense 89,318               5,388                 

Net change in:

Various other assets (1,550,522)         (4,104,299)         

Various other liabilities (2,028,905)         (3,573,490)         

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,225,752          50,360,798        

INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from paydowns of debt securities 

held-to-maturity 355,425             971,552             

Proceeds from paydowns of debt securities 

available-for-sale 16,588               229,776             

Purchase of debt securities held-to-maturity (5,446,737)         (6,415,514)         

Purchase of equity securities (10,392,158)       (7,091,872)         

Proceeds from sale of equity securities 1,426,145          50,570               

Purchase of non-marketable equity securities -                     (1,093,075)         

Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bank stock (1,755,000)         (3,161,600)         

Purchase of loans held for investment (9,863,883)         -                     

Loans and financings granted, and repayments, net (178,062,623)     (365,733,711)     

Proceeds from sale of mortgage servicing rights 1,914,962          17,538,082        

Payment of contingent consideration liability -                     (272,336)            

Purchases of premises and equipment (1,167,283)         (747,215)            

Net cash used in investing activities (202,974,564) (365,725,343)

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements . Page 10



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued) 

2023 2022

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Net change in deposits 69,210,280$    243,706,722$   

Brokered time deposits issuance costs (774,250) (855,733)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options - 280,000

Payment of preferred dividends (411,372) -

Net change in short-term borrowings 1,000,000 -

Net change in short-term FHLB borrowings  55,000,000 50,000,000

Proceeds from issuance of subordinated debt 13,500,000 14,500,000

Subordinated debt issuance costs (328,270) (374,464)

Principal payments on mortgage payable - (1,534,148)

Payment of common dividends - (2,218,283)

Net cash provided by financing activities 137,196,388 303,504,094 

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND 

RESTRICTED CASH (60,552,424)    (11,860,451)    

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted 

Cash, Beginning of Year 85,673,138 97,533,589 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted 
Cash, End of Year 25,120,714$    85,673,138$   

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH 

FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the year for interest 15,398,056$    1,090,986$   

Cash paid during the year for income taxes 475,800$         4,690,000$   

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH

TRANSACTIONS:

Increase (decrease) in mortgage loans 

recorded for repurchase option (10,706,323)$   2,491,693$   

Accrual of preferred dividends -$                 168,960$  

Receivable recorded upon sale of mortgage

servicing rights -$  1,914,962$  

Loans and financings converted to

real estate owned 593,478$   -$  

Coversion of preferred stock for

 treasury shares 2,280,000$   -$  

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 11
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UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements of University Bancorp, Inc. (the “Parent”) include 
the operations of its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, University Bank (the “Bank”) and 
Crescent Assurance, PCC (“Crescent”), the Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, Ann 
Arbor Insurance Centre, Inc. (“AAIC”), Hoover, LLC (“Hoover”), University Lending 
Group, LLC (“ULG”), and Arbor Street, LLC (“Arbor Street”), and the Bank’s 80% owned 
subsidiary, UIF Corporation (“UIF”). These consolidated financial statements also 
include the operations of Hoover’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Tuomy, LLC, as well as the 
operations of AAIC’s wholly-owned subsidiary, 2621 Carpenter Road, LLC. The 
accounts are maintained on an accrual basis in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and predominant practices within the banking and mortgage 
banking industries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. University Bancorp, Inc. 
and Subsidiaries are herein referred to as the “Company”.  

The Parent is a financial holding company. The Bank, which is located in Michigan, is a
full-service community bank, which offers all customary banking services, including 
the acceptance of checking, savings and time deposits. The Bank also makes 
commercial, real estate, personal, home improvement, automotive and other 
installment, credit card and consumer loans, and provides fee-based services 
such as foreign currency exchange. The Bank also services and subservices loans. 
The Bank’s customer base is primarily located in the Ann Arbor, Michigan metropolitan 
statistical area.  

The Bank’s loan portfolio is concentrated in Ann Arbor and Washtenaw 
County, Michigan. While the loan portfolio is diversified, the customers’ ability to 
honor their debts is partially dependent on the local economy. The Ann Arbor area 
is primarily dependent on the education, healthcare, services, and manufacturing 
(automotive and other) industries. Most real estate loans are secured by residential 
or commercial real estate and business assets secure most business loans. Generally, 
installment loans are secured by various items of personal property.  

Crescent is a protected cell captive insurance company and commenced operations 
in March 2023. Crescent is authorized to form protected cells. No cells have 
been established by Crescent to date. Crescent is engaged in the business of 
providing commercial property and various liability insurance to its Parent, the 
Parent’s subsidiaries, and unaffiliated entities. 

AAIC is engaged in the sale of insurance products including life, health, property 
and casualty, and investment products such as annuities. AAIC is located in the 
building owned by 2621 Carpenter Road, LLC in Ann Arbor, MI.  

Hoover owns the Bank’s headquarters facility. Tuomy owns commercial land with a 
drive through ATM and a rental building. 



Page 13 

UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation (Continued) 

ULG commenced operations in April 2008 and is headquartered in Clinton Township, 
Michigan. ULG operates in seventeen retail branches throughout the United States. ULG 
is engaged in the business of marketing, originating, processing, closing and selling 
retail mortgage loans. ULG is also engaged in the business of servicing mortgage loans 
as servicing rights are retained on selective loans that are sold. In April 2022, ULG was 
dissolved, and its net assets were assumed by the Bank. ULG now operates as a 
division of the Bank. 

Through late 2022, Arbor Street, previously named Midwest Loan Solutions, Inc., was 
engaged in the business of servicing residential mortgages. Arbor Street was also 
engaged in the business of marketing, originating, processing, closing, and selling retail 
mortgage loans. The Company also offered commercial warehouse lines of credit. 
During 2022, Midwest Loan Solutions, Inc. was converted from a Corporation to an LLC 
and renamed Arbor Street, LLC. Arbor Street is no longer engaged in the business of 
marketing, originating, processing, closing, and selling retail mortgage loans or 
commercial warehouse lines of credit. Arbor Street continues to invest in real estate-
related assets including residential mortgage loans, mortgage servicing rights, real 
property, small commercial mortgage loans, securities that are backed by these 
underlying assets, and related investments. The Bank owns 100% of the common 
membership interest of Arbor Street. Arbor Street is also authorized to issue Class A 
preferred membership interest, although no such interest was issued as of December 
31, 2023. 

UIF is a faith-based financial services firm and was formed in December 2005. UIF is 
based in Southfield, Michigan. Its current products, which comply with federal, state and 
faith-based law, are deposits (as agent for the Bank) that are insured by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”), home financings (as agent for the Bank), 
home financings and commercial real estate financings (as principal for its own account), 
and consumer vehicle financing. Products compliant with faith-based law are offered to 
service the large number of faith-based customers who have an ethical aversion 
to paying or receiving fixed interest.  

For several years, UIF offered three distinct financing methods offered to both residential 
and commercial customers, which include redeemable lease, installment sale contracts, 
and declining balance partnerships. However, due to a significant shift in demand, UIF 
shifted solely to originating the declining balance partnership model for all real estate 
financing. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation (Continued) 
 
Under the former and most seldom used redeemable lease method, a single-asset trust 
or an LLC was established by or on behalf of the originator (Bank/UIF), as settlor, 
naming a special purpose entity as the trustee or manager. The trust or LLC is subject to 
the terms of the written indenture designed for this specific purpose which is used 
generically for all financings in the redeemable lease program. The funds necessary to 
acquire the real property are deposited into the trust or LLC by the originator, as settlor, 
and used to fund the purchase of the property. The trust or LLC then enters into a 
combination lease/contract-for-deed agreement with the lessee/purchaser. The settlor is 
the initial beneficiary of the trust or LLC, but the beneficial interest in the payment stream 
arising from the trust or LLC is assignable to third parties. The power to remove and 
appoint trustees or managers is granted to the beneficiary and the beneficiary has the 
power to direct the trustee or manager with respect to foreclosure of the property. These 
rights are assignable with the payment stream. 
 
The terms of the lease and contract-for-deed agreements, in combination, result in a 
payment stream and cost of the real property that are functionally equivalent to secured 
real estate lending for both the lessee/purchaser and UIF. The lease payment under the 
lease agreement is like an interest payment under a conventional mortgage. The 
contract-for-deed payments resemble a principal payment under a conventional 
mortgage. 
 
The lease and contract-for-deed payment streams are combined and considered as a 
single transaction. These redeemable lease arrangements are treated as sales-type 
leases in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), with 
no profit or loss at lease commencement. This financing model is no longer used, but a 
legacy portfolio remains on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Accordingly, the Company’s accounting for this product is essentially the same as a 
conventional mortgage product. To reflect the substance of the residential and 
commercial redeemable lease transactions, the Company uses the consolidated balance 
sheet account title “Loans and financings” instead of a typical title of “Loans”. In the 
consolidated statements of operations, “Interest and fees on loans” is modified to state, 
“Interest and fees on loans and financing income”.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation (Continued) 
 
The second form of financing was the installment sale method. As agent for the Bank, 
UIF bought either a residential or a commercial property selected by a customer and 
then resells it to the customer, at a selling price higher than the purchase price. The 
difference between UIF’s purchase price and the selling price is the profit that the 
ultimate holder of the installment contract will accrete into income over the life of the 
contract. After the residential financing contract is executed by UIF and the customer, 
the contract is assigned to the Bank, and then assigned to the Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”). Freddie Mac then reimburses the Bank for the 
outlay of cash to purchase the property and pays the Bank a fee for origination. The 
cash, origination fees and servicing rights are retained by UIF under a master agreement 
between UIF and the Bank. The customer pays Freddie Mac for the property that was 
purchased on an installment basis, in accordance with an agreed repayment schedule.  
 
The Company records these contracts at fair value for the short period of time that they 
are held before assignment to Freddie Mac. The residential financing installment 
contracts are assigned with servicing retained. Thus, the value of the installment 
contract and value of the servicing is determined to calculate the fair value and any gain 
or loss on the assignment of the underlying installment contract. After commercial 
financing contracts are executed, they are retained on UIF’s balance sheet as 
financings. See Note 24 for additional discussion of the determination of fair value. This 
financing model is no longer used, but a legacy portfolio remains on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheet. 
 
The third and only remaining financing method uses the declining balance partnership 
model to enter into a declining balance agreement and payment agreement as joint 
owner, secured by a mortgage or deed of trust, with a commercial or residential 
customer once the customer selects the property. With the customer holding registered 
title, the declining balance agreement outlines the percentage of ownership which shifts 
over time from the joint owner to the customer as the customer makes monthly buyout 
payments towards the buyout price. 
 
The monthly buyout payments are also inclusive of use payments to the joint owner 
(UIF) in consideration for UIF allowing the customer to use their portion of the property. 
After the residential declining balance agreements are executed by UIF and the 
customer, the contract and UIF’s ownership rights are assigned to either Freddie Mac or 
the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) or are retained on the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheet as financings. After commercial financing 
contracts are executed, they are retained on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet 
as financings or could involve a participating bank. This model can be utilized for both 
fixed and variable rate mortgage transactions. Upon closing, if these residential 
financings are to be transferred to Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae, the Company records 
these residential financings at fair value for the short period of time that they are held 
before being transferred. These residential financings are assigned with servicing 
retained. See Note 24 for additional discussion of the determination of fair value. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation (Continued) 
 
The Company also offers a vehicle financing product using a joint purchase agreement 
and an installment sale contract. After vehicle financing contracts are executed, they are 
retained as a fully amortizing installment sale financing on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheet as financings. 
 
On the liability side of the balance sheet, UIF (as agent for the Bank) also offers FDIC–
insured profit-sharing time deposits. These deposits are specifically invested in 
investments compliant with faith-based law such as, but not limited to, home and 
commercial real estate financings, MSRs, and consumer vehicle financings. The profits 
shared with depositors are derived specifically from the revenues from the investments 
compliant with faith-based law, net of expenses. In compliance with the FDIC definition 
of a deposit, balances in these accounts, like all deposit accounts, are FDIC insured. An 
anticipated profit-sharing arrangement is disclosed to the depositor, and the account is 
structured as a variable rate time deposit that can accommodate fluctuations in profit 
sharing depending on the earnings of the specific portfolio. The earnings paid to the 
depositors by the Bank are accounted for as an expense. This expense is analogous to 
interest expense paid on deposits in conventional financing. To reflect the legal 
substance of the profit-sharing deposits, the Company uses the balance sheet account 
title “Demand/time deposits – interest bearing and profit sharing” instead of the typical 
title of “Demand/time deposits – interest bearing”. In the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income, “Interest on deposits” is modified to state, 
“Interest and profit sharing on deposits”. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions based upon available information. These estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 
 
The significant estimates incorporated into these financial statements, which are most 
susceptible to change in the near term, include the identification and valuation of 
mortgage and financing servicing rights, the allowance for credit losses, the valuation of 
real estate owned, impairment analysis of goodwill and other intangible assets, the 
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, the fair value of loans and financings held 
for sale or assignment, the fair value of derivative instruments such as mortgage interest 
and financing rate locks and forward commitments, recourse liabilities related to loans 
sold and financings assigned and loans and financings held for sale or assignment, the 
valuation of stock options and related stock based-compensation, the fair value of the 
contingent earn-out liabilities, the amount of contingent liabilities, and the determination 
and the fair value of other financial instruments. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Cash Flow Reporting 
 
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
and restricted cash is defined to include the cash on hand, interest bearing deposits in 
other institutions, federal funds sold, other investments with an original maturity of three 
months or less, and restricted cash. Net cash flows are reported for customer loans and 
financings, deposit transactions, and interest-bearing deposits with other banks. 
 
Investment in Marketable Securities 
 
Marketable debt securities held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost, net of an 
allowance for credit losses. Marketable debt securities available-for-sale are carried at 
fair value, net of any allowance for credit losses, with unrealized holding gains and 
losses reported in other comprehensive income or loss. Realized gains and losses on 
the sale of marketable debt securities available-for-sale are recorded in the consolidated 
statements of operations. 
 
Marketable equity securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized and realized gains 
and losses reported in earnings. 
 
Investment securities transactions are recorded on the trade date for purchases and 
sales. Interest earned on investment securities, including the amortization of premiums 
and the accretion of discounts, are determined using the effective interest method over 
the period of maturity and recorded in interest income in the consolidated statements of 
operations.  
 
Investment in Non-Marketable Equity Securities 
  
Non-marketable equity securities consist of an investment in shares of a privately-held 
trust bank without a readily determinable fair value. All gains and losses on non-
marketable equity securities, realized and unrealized, are recognized in earnings. 
 
The Company elected the measurement alternative in Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2016-01 Financial Instruments, as amended by ASU 2018-03 Technical 
Corrections and Improvements to Financial Instruments, to account for non-marketable 
equity securities. Under this alternative, the carrying value of non-marketable equity 
securities is adjusted up or down for observable price changes in orderly transactions for 
identical or similar investments of the same issuer. All gains and losses on non-
marketable equity securities, realized and unrealized, are recognized in earnings.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Investment in Non-Marketable Equity Securities (Continued) 

Fair value may differ from the observed transaction price due to a number of factors, 
including marketability adjustments and differences in rights and obligations when the 
observed transaction is not for the identical investment held. The Company applies a 
price-based methodology, which utilizes, where available, quoted prices or other market 
information obtained from recent trading activity in positions with the same or similar 
characteristics to the position being valued. The frequency and size of transactions are 
among the factors that are driven by the liquidity of markets and determine the relevance 
of observed prices in those markets. Determining whether an observed transaction is 
similar to a security within the Company’s portfolio requires judgment based on the rights 
and obligations of the security. Recording upward and downward adjustments to the 
carrying value of the Company’s non-marketable equity securities as a result of 
observable price changes requires quantitative assessments of the fair value of 
securities using various valuation methodologies and involves the use of estimates. The 
Company’s estimate of fair value may differ significantly from the value that would have 
been used had an orderly market existed for the securities, and the difference could be 
material.  

Non-marketable equity securities under the measurement alternative are also assessed 
for impairment. Impairment indicators that are considered include, but are not limited to, 
(a) a significant deterioration in the earnings performance, credit rating, asset quality or
business prospects of the investee, (b) a significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic or technological environment of the investee, (c) a significant adverse change
in the general market condition of either the geographical area or the industry in which
the investee operates (d) a bona fide offer to purchase, an offer by the investee to sell or
a completed auction process for the same or similar investment for an amount less than
the carrying amount of that investment, and (e) factors that raise significant concerns
about the investee’s ability to continue as a going concern, such as negative cash flows
from operations, working capital deficiencies or noncompliance with statutory capital
requirements or debt covenants. When the qualitative assessment indicates that
impairment exists, the investment is written down, with impairment recognized in
earnings.

Federal Home Loan Bank Stock 

As a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (the “FHLB”), the Bank is required to 
invest in FHLB stock, which is carried at cost since there is no readily available market 
value. When redeemed, the Bank receives an amount equal to the par value of the 
stock. Dividends paid on the FHLB stock are subject to economic events, regulatory 
actions, and other factors.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Loans and Financings 

Loans and financings are reported at the principal balance outstanding, net of unearned 
interest or financing income, discounts, deferred loan or financing fees and costs, and an 
allowance for credit losses. Interest income is reported on the interest method and 
includes amortization of discounts and net deferred loan fees and costs over the loan 
term. Financing income is calculated monthly and includes amortization of net deferred 
financing fees and costs over the term of the financing. Interest or financing income is 
not reported when full loan repayment is in doubt, typically when payments are past due 
over ninety days. Payments received on such loans and financings are reported as 
principal reductions, unless all interest or financing income and principal payments in 
arrears are paid in full.  

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement - CECL 

Effective January 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - 
Credit Losses ("ASC 326"). This standard replaced the incurred loss methodology with 
an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss 
("CECL") methodology. CECL requires an estimate of credit losses for the remaining 
estimated life of the financial asset using historical experience, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts, and generally applies to financial assets 
measured at amortized cost, including loan and financing receivables and held-to-
maturity debt securities, and some off-balance sheet credit exposures, such as unfunded 
commitments to extend credit. Financial assets measured at amortized cost will be 
presented at the net amount expected to be collected by using an allowance for credit 
losses.  

In addition, CECL made changes to the accounting for available-for-sale debt securities. 
One such change is to require credit losses to be presented as an allowance rather than 
as a write-down on available-for-sale debt securities if management does not intend to 
sell and does not believe that it is more likely than not, they will be required to sell. 

The Company adopted ASC 326 and all related subsequent amendments thereto 
effective January 1, 2023 using the modified retrospective approach for all financial 
assets measured at amortized cost and off-balance sheet credit exposures. The 
transition adjustment of the adoption of CECL did not have a material impact on the 
financial statements, and hence, management determined that an adjustment to retained 
earnings as of January 1, 2023 for the cumulative effect of adopting CECL was not 
necessary. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2023 are presented 
under CECL, while prior period amounts continue to be reported in accordance with 
previously applicable accounting standards ("incurred loss"). 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement - CECL (Continued) 
 
The Company adopted ASC 326 using the prospective transition approach for debt 
securities for which other-than-temporary impairment had been recognized prior to 
January 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any other than-
temporary impaired investment securities. Therefore, upon adoption of ASC 326, the 
Company determined that an allowance for credit losses on available-for-sale securities 
was not deemed material. 
 
The Company elected not to measure an allowance for credit losses for accrued interest 
and financing income receivable and instead elected to reverse interest and financing 
income on loans and financings or securities that are placed on nonaccrual status, which 
is generally when the instrument is 90 days past due, or earlier if the Company believes 
the collection of interest and financing income is doubtful. The Company has concluded 
that this policy results in the timely reversal of uncollectible interest and financing 
income. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securities 
 
Management measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities on a 
collective basis by major security type. The estimate of expected credit losses is 
primarily based on the ratings assigned to the securities by debt rating agencies and the 
average of the annual historical loss rates associated with those ratings. The Company 
then multiplies those loss rates, as adjusted for any modifications to reflect current 
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts as considered necessary, by the 
remaining lives of each individual security to arrive at a lifetime expected loss amount. 
Management classifies the held-to-maturity portfolio into the following major security 
types: mortgage-backed securities or foreign corporate bonds. 
 
All the mortgage-backed securities held by the Company are issued by government-
sponsored corporations. These securities are either explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by 
the U.S. government, are highly rated by major rating agencies, and have a long history 
of no credit losses. Management monitors the fair value of the foreign corporate bonds 
held by the Company through market indicators, and the fair value exceeds the carrying 
value. As a result, no allowance for credit losses was recorded on held-to-maturity 
securities at December 31, 2023. Accrued interest receivable is excluded from the 
estimate of credit losses. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Available-for-Sale Securities 
 
For available-for-sale securities, management evaluates all investments in an unrealized 
loss position on a regular basis. If the Company has the intent to sell the security or it is 
more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security, the security is 
written down to fair value and the entire loss is recorded in earnings. 
 
If either of the above criteria is not met, the Company evaluates whether the decline in 
fair value is the result of credit losses or other factors. In making the assessment, the 
Company may consider various factors including the extent to which fair value is less 
than amortized cost, performance on any underlying collateral, downgrades in the 
ratings of the security by a rating agency, the failure of the issuer to make scheduled 
interest or principal payments, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security. 
If the assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows 
expected to be collected are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security and 
any excess is recorded as an allowance for credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair 
value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any amount of unrealized loss that has not 
been recorded through an allowance for credit loss is recognized in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Changes in the allowance for credit loss are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) 
credit loss expense. Losses are charged against the allowance for credit loss when 
management believes an available-for-sale security is confirmed to be uncollectible or 
when either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. At December 31, 
2023, there was no allowance for credit loss related to the available-for-sale portfolio. 
Accrued interest receivable is excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans and Financings 
 
The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the loan’s or 
financing’s amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be collected on 
the loans. Loans and financings are charged off against the allowance when 
management believes the uncollectibility of a loan or financing balance is confirmed. 
Expected recoveries do not exceed the aggregate of amounts previously charged-off 
and expected to be charged-off. Accrued interest and financing income receivable is 
excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans and Financings (Continued) 
 
The allowance for credit losses represents management's estimate of lifetime credit 
losses inherent in loans and financings as of the balance sheet date. The allowance for 
credit losses is estimated by management using relevant available information, from 
both internal and external sources, relating to past events, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts. 
 
The Company measures expected credit losses for loans and financings on a pooled 
basis when similar risk characteristics exist. The Company has identified the following 
portfolio segments for calculating the allowance for credit losses: commercial, 
commercial real estate, residential real estate, and consumer loans. These segments 
are evaluated based on the failure of the borrower to make scheduled interest and 
financing income or principal payments, performance of underlying collateral, and 
market conditions. 
 
Additionally, the allowance for credit losses calculation includes subjective adjustments 
for qualitative risk factors that are likely to cause estimated credit losses to differ from 
historical experience. These qualitative adjustments may increase or reduce reserve 
levels and include adjustments for lending management experience and risk tolerance, 
loan review and audit results, asset quality and portfolio trends, loan and financing 
portfolio growth, industry concentrations, trends in underlying collateral, external factors, 
and economic conditions not already captured. 
 
Loans and financings that do not share risk characteristics are evaluated on an 
individual basis. When management determines that foreclosure is probable and the 
borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, the expected credit losses are based on the 
fair value of collateral at the reporting date, adjusted for selling costs as appropriate. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses - Unfunded Commitments 
 
Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments 
to make loans and financings, and commercial letters of credit issued to meet customer 
financing needs. The Company's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance 
by the other party to the financial instrument for off-balance sheet loan and financing 
commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. Such 
financial instruments are recorded when they are funded. 
 
The Company records an allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit 
exposures, unless the commitments to extend credit are unconditionally cancelable, 
through a charge to provision in the Company's statement of operations. The allowance 
for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures is estimated by loan and 
financing segment at each balance sheet date under the current expected credit loss 
model using the same methodologies as portfolio loans and financings, taking into 
consideration the likelihood that funding will occur as well as any third-party guarantees. 
As of December 31, 2023 the Company recorded an allowance for credit loss for off-
balance sheet credit exposures of $63,135 as a liability included in accrued expenses 
and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 
 
Premises and Equipment 
 
Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization. Depreciation and amortization is computed primarily on the straight-line 
method over the assets’ estimated useful lives which range from three to thirty-nine 
years. In the case of a leasehold improvement, the life will be the lesser of the term of 
the lease and the estimated useful life. 
 
Leases 
 
The Company is party to certain operating leases. In accordance with ASC 842, Leases, 
the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. A lease liability and a 
right-of-use asset are recognized at the start of the lease for these operating leases 
based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The cost of the right-
of-use asset also includes any initial direct costs and any lease payments made on or 
before the inception date, less any incentives received. A right-of-use asset is amortized 
to lease expense on a straight-line basis from the inception date until the earlier of the 
end of the asset’s useful life or the end of the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject 
to impairment. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Leases (Continued) 
 
Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate 
can be readily determined. If it cannot be easily determined, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used. Book value is re-measured if the lease term changes. The 
Company applies the exemptions for recognizing short-term leases (those leases with 
terms of 12 months or less from the inception date and that do not include a purchase 
option) and leases in which the underlying asset is of low value. The lease payments 
deriving from these contracts are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The Company also elected not to separate lease and non-lease components for all 
leases. 

 
The Company establishes the lease term as the irrevocable period of a lease plus: (i) 
any periods covered by an option to extend the lease, if the Company is reasonably 
certain that it will exercise this option; and (ii) any periods covered by an option to 
terminate the lease if the Company is reasonably certain that it will not exercise this 
option. 
 
Variable lease payments that include payments based upon changes in a rate or index, 
such as consumer price indexes, as well as usage of the lease asset, such as utilities, 
real estate taxes, insurance, and variable common area maintenance, are expensed as 
incurred. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value 
guarantees or material restrictive covenants.  
 
Mortgage Banking Activities 
 
The Company’s mortgage banking activities consist of retail and servicing operations. 
Loans and financings held for sale are sold or assigned with selective loans or 
financings having their servicing or financing rights retained, and others are sold or 
assigned on a servicing released basis. The Company has elected to record all loans 
and financings held for sale at fair value. Loans and financings are generally sold or 
assigned without recourse, except in certain events as defined in the related sale or 
assignment documents.  
 
An allowance was booked for potential recourse liabilities related to loans and financings 
sold or assigned, and loans and financings held for sale or assignment, in the amount of 
$549,398 and $616,546 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Mortgage Banking Activities (Continued) 
 
At certain times the Company may be required to buyback loans from a purchaser in 
accordance with loan purchase documents if certain representations and warranties 
regarding eligibility and underwriting are not met. Also, certain securitization programs 
allow the Company to buy back individual delinquent mortgage loans from the 
securitized loan pool once certain conditions are met. When individual loans meet the 
specified delinquency criteria and are eligible for repurchase, the Company has the 
option to repurchase the delinquent loan for an amount equal to 100% of the loan’s 
remaining principal balance and must account for loans as if they had been 
repurchased, provided the buyback option provides the Company with a “more-than-
trivial benefit.” The delinquent loans must be brought back onto the Company’s balance 
sheet as assets and initially recorded at fair value, regardless of whether the Company 
intends to exercise the buyback option. An offsetting liability is also recorded. Included in 
the loans held for investment at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are $3,861,742 and 
$14,568,065, respectively, of delinquent residential loans that the Company has the 
option to buy back. As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, a loan repurchase liability of 
$3,861,742 and $14,568,065, respectively, is recorded on the balance sheet related to 
these repurchase options. 
 
Mortgage and financing servicing rights (“MSRs”) represent both purchased rights and 
the allocated value of servicing rights retained on loans or financings originated and sold 
or assigned. Loan and financing servicing and sub-servicing fees are contractually 
based and are recognized monthly as earned over the life of the loans or financings. 
 
MSRs are initially recognized at their fair value and subsequently can either be: (1) 
carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings; or (2) amortized 
and assessed for impairment. These options may be applied by class of servicing assets 
or liabilities. The Company has elected to apply fair value accounting to all MSRs.  
 
Real Estate Owned 
 
Real estate properties acquired upon foreclosure of a loan or financing are recorded at 
fair value upon foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. Any difference between the 
fair value of the real estate from the carrying value of the related loan or financing is 
accounted for as a credit loss. After foreclosure, management periodically performs 
valuations to ensure real estate is carried at the lower of cost or fair value, less 
estimated costs to sell. Expenses, gains and losses on disposition, and decreases in the 
fair value are reported in noninterest expense. The Company had real estate owned 
totaling $593,478 and $-0- as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which  
related to residential real estate loans and financings. As of December 31, 2023 there 
were no other loans and financings that are in the process of foreclosure. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Derivative Instruments 
 
The Company enters into interest and financing rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”) in 
connection with its mortgage banking activities to fund residential mortgage loans and 
financings within specified times in the future. IRLCs that relate to the origination of 
mortgage loans and financings that will be held for sale or assignment are considered 
derivative instruments. As such, these IRLCs are recorded at fair value (see Note 24) 
with net changes in fair value recorded in earnings.  
 
Outstanding IRLCs expose the Company to the risk that the price of the loans or 
financings underlying the commitments might decline from inception of the rate lock to 
the funding of the loan or financing. To protect against this risk, the Company utilizes 
forward loan and financing sales commitments to economically hedge the risk of 
potential changes in the value of the loans and financings that would result from the 
commitments. These forward commitments are recorded at fair value (see Note 24) with 
net changes in fair value recorded in earnings.  
 
Goodwill  
 
Goodwill is the excess costs of acquired businesses over the fair value amounts 
assigned to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company reviews 
goodwill for impairment annually or whenever events and circumstances have occurred 
that indicate a potential impairment.  
 
When performing an impairment test, management compares the fair value of a 
reporting unit with the its carrying value at the measurement date. If the carrying value of 
the reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, an impairment loss is 
recognized in an amount not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that 
reporting unit. 
 
The Company’s evaluations of goodwill completed during 2023 and 2022 resulted in no 
impairment losses. 
 
Long-Lived Assets  
 
Management periodically reviews the potential impairment of long-lived assets to assess 
recoverability. If a long-lived asset is deemed to be impaired, the write-down is recorded 
as a periodic expense. There was no impairment recorded during 2023 or 2022. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Income Taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded for estimated future tax 
consequences attributable to the differences between the financial carrying amounts of 
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred income taxes are 
to be computed on the liability method and deferred tax assets are recognized only when 
realization is certain. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be realized. The effect on deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
includes the enactment date. If necessary, a valuation allowance is booked to reduce net 
deferred tax assets to a net amount that is more likely than not to be realized. 

The benefit of an uncertain tax position is recognized in the financial statements if it 
meets a minimum recognition threshold. A determination is first made as to whether it is 
more likely than not that the income tax position will be sustained, based upon technical 
merits, upon examination by the taxing authorities. If the income tax position is expected 
to meet the more-likely-than-not criteria, the benefit recorded in the financial statements 
equals the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon its ultimate 
settlement. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there are no uncertain tax positions for 
which a reserve or liability is recognized. 

The Parent and the Bank have a tax sharing agreement with some of its subsidiaries in 
which the subsidiaries record their share of federal and state taxes in accordance with 
the tax sharing agreements.  

Computation of EPS 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income attributable to 
common stockholders by the weighted-average common shares outstanding in the 
period. Diluted EPS is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities that 
are outstanding and excludes the effect of any potentially antidilutive securities. The 
number of shares related to options included in diluted EPS is based on the treasury 
stock method. 

The Company issued preferred shares that earn preferred dividends. In the
determination of EPS, net income available to common stockholders has been reduced 
by the amount of preferred dividends. 

Reclassifications 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2022 financial statement presentation to 
correspond to the current year’s format. Total equity and net income are unchanged due 
to these reclassifications. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Subsequent Events 

The Company has performed a review of events subsequent to December 31, 
2023, through March 28, 2024, the date the consolidated financial statements were 
available to be issued. 

NOTE 2 – INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

Marketable Securities 

Marketable investment securities have been classified according to management’s 
intent. The amortized cost of marketable investment securities and their approximate fair 
values are as follows: 

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2023 Cost Gains Losses Value

At amortized cost:

U.S. agency mortgage-

backed securities

held-to-maturity 12,563,467$   -$   (996,930)$   11,566,537$   

Foreign corporate bonds 4,546,898      187,655         - 4,734,553 

Total at amortized cost 17,110,365$   187,655$    (996,930)$    16,301,090$   

At fair value:

U.S. agency mortgage-

backed securities

available-for-sale 46,082$    -$   (470)$  45,612$   

Equity securities 17,547,476    3,179,999      (3,924,200)     16,803,275    

Total at fair value 17,593,558$   3,179,999$     (3,924,670)$    16,848,887$   

There was no allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity or available-for-sale debt 
securities as of December 31, 2023.  

The Company monitors the credit quality of debt securities held-to-maturity using credit 
ratings. At December 31, 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-maturity that 
were past due 30 days or more as to principal or interest payments. The Company had 
no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual during the year ended December 
31, 2023. 
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NOTE 2 – INVESTMENT SECURITIES (Continued) 

Marketable Securities (Continued) 

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2022 Cost Gains Losses Value

At amortized cost:

U.S. agency mortgage-

backed securities

held-to-maturity 8,840,172$     -$   (1,021,330)$    7,818,842$     

Foreign corporate bonds 2,687,374      - (65,234) 2,622,140      

Total at amortized cost 11,527,546$   -$   (1,086,564)$    10,440,982$   

At fair value:

U.S. agency mortgage-

backed securities

available-for-sale 62,670$    -$   (1,163)$      61,507$    

Equity securities 10,382,511    1,488,356      (2,348,378)     9,522,489      

Total at fair value 10,445,181$   1,488,356$     (2,349,541)$    9,583,996$     

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of marketable investment securities 
pledged to secure certain line of credit borrowings was $11,612,149 and $7,880,349. 
The balance of these borrowings at both December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $-0-.  

The following is a summary of maturities of marketable debt securities held-to-maturity 
and available-for-sale as of December 31, 2023: 

Amortized Amortized

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Amounts maturing in:

One year or less -$   -$  -$  -$   

After one year 

through five years 4,546,898      4,734,553      - - 

After five years 

through ten years - - - - 

After ten years 12,563,467    11,566,537    46,082 45,612 

17,110,365$   16,301,090$   46,082$    45,612$    

Held-to-maturity Available-for-sale

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers and borrowers 
may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment 
penalties.  
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NOTE 2 – INVESTMENT SECURITIES (Continued) 
 
Unrealized Loss Disclosures 
 
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of available-for-sale 
debt securities for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded, 
aggregated by category and length of time that the securities have been in a continuous 
unrealized loss position at December 31, 2023: 
 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

U.S. agency mortgage-backed

securities available-for-sale -$                -$                45,612$          (470)$              45,612$          (470)$             

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Unrealized losses on mortgage-backed securities have not been recognized into income 
as management does not intend to sell, and it is likely that management will not be 
required to sell, the securities prior to their anticipated recovery. Also, the decline in fair 
value is largely due to changes in interest rates and other market conditions. The issuers 
continue to make timely principal and interest payments.  
 
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of available-for-sale 
and held-to-maturity debt securities aggregated by category and length of time that the 
securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2022: 
 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

U.S. agency mortgage-backed

securities held-to-maturity -$                -$                7,818,842$     (1,021,330)$    7,818,842$     (1,021,330)$   

Foreign corporate bonds 2,622,140      (65,234)          -                 -                2,622,140     (65,234)         

Total held-to-maturity 

securities 2,622,140$     (65,234)$         7,818,842$     (1,021,330)$    10,440,982$   (1,086,564)$   

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

U.S. agency mortgage-backed

securities available-for-sale -$                -$                61,507$          (1,163)$           61,507$          (1,163)$          

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

 
Non-Marketable Securities 
 
Non-marketable equity securities consist of an investment in capital stock of a privately 
held trust bank without a readily determinable fair value. The Company purchased this 
investment during 2022 for $1,093,075. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the 
Company’s non-marketable equity securities had a carrying value of $1,093,075. There 
were no upward or downward adjustments to the Company’s non-marketable securities 
and there were no realized or unrealized gains or losses on non-marketable equity 
securities during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS 
 
Major classifications of loans and financings are as follows: 
 

December 31,

2023 2022
 
Commercial 42,508,054$    6,716,861$      

Commercial real estate 115,018,496   93,057,364     

Residential real estate 571,646,526   456,050,594   

Installment 4,624,005       1,615,763       

Credit cards 50,380            65,268            

     Gross loans and financings 733,847,461   557,505,850   

Allowance for credit losses (4,429,843)      (3,560,005)      

Unamortized premium (discount) on 

residential real estate loans 256,272          (57,190)          

     Net loans and financings 729,673,890$  553,888,655$  

Allowance for Credit Losses 
 
The following table summarizes the activity related to the allowance for credit losses for 
the year ended December 31, 2023 under the CECL methodology. 
 

 Commercial Retail Unallocated Total

Balance, beginning of year 444,609$        1,272,889$     1,842,507$     3,560,005$      

Adjustment to allowance for adoption

of ASU 2016-13 277,157        1,565,350     (1,842,507)    -                  

Provision charged to operations 178,684        719,976        -                898,660          

Recoveries credited to allowance -                20,700          -                20,700            

Charge-offs -                (49,522) -                (49,522)

Balance, end of year 900,450$        3,529,393$     -$                4,429,843$      

 

2023

 
Prior to the adoption of ASC 326 on January 1, 2023, the Company calculated the 
allowance for loan and financing losses under the incurred loss methodology. The 
following tables are disclosures related to the allowance for loan and financing losses in 
prior periods. 
 

 Commercial Retail Unallocated Total

Balance, beginning of year 396,745$        472,234$        2,703,315$     3,572,294$      

Provision charged to operations 47,864          779,655        (860,808)       (33,289)           

Recoveries credited to allowance -                21,000          -                21,000            

Charge-offs -                - -                -

Balance, end of year 444,609$        1,272,889$     1,842,507$     3,560,005$      

 

2022
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 

 Commercial Retail Unallocated Total

Allowance for loan and financing losses

Individually evaluated for impairment 1,923$            4,804$            -$                6,727$             

Collectively evaluated for impairment 442,687        1,268,084     1,842,507     3,553,278       

Balance, end of year 444,610$        1,272,888$     1,842,507$     3,560,005$      
 

Loans and financings

Individually evaluated for impairment 695,922$        4,678,326$     -$                5,374,248$      

Collectively evaluated for impairment 99,078,303   453,053,299  -                552,131,602   

Balance, end of year 99,774,225$   457,731,625$ -$                557,505,850$   

 

2022

 
Collateral Dependent Loans and Financings 
 
The Company has certain loans and financings for which repayment is dependent upon 
the operation or sale of collateral, as the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty. The 
underlying collateral can vary based upon the type of loan or financing. The following 
provides more detail about the types of collateral that secure collateral dependent loans 
and financings. 
 

• Commercial loans and financings are typically secured by business assets or 
business owner assets. 

• Commercial real estate loans and financings can be secured by either owner-
occupied commercial real estate or non-owner-occupied investment commercial 
real estate. Typically, owner occupied commercial real estate loans and 
financings are secured by office buildings, warehouses, manufacturing facilities 
and other commercial and industrial properties occupied by operating 
companies. Non-owner occupied commercial real estate loans and financings 
are generally secured by office buildings and complexes, retail facilities, 
multifamily complexes, land under development, industrial properties, as well as 
other commercial or industrial real estate. 

• Consumer loans and financings are generally secured by automobiles, 
motorcycles, recreational vehicles and other personal property. Some consumer 
loans and financings are unsecured and have no underlying collateral. 

• Residential real estate loans and financings, and home equity lines of credit are 
typically secured by first or second mortgages. 

 
The following table details the amortized cost of collateral dependent loans and 
financings at December 31, 2023. 
 

2023

Commercial -$                

Commercial real estate 391,044        

Consumer/credit card -                

Residential real estate 2,589,405     

Total 2,980,449$       
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 
Impaired Loan and Financing Disclosures – 2022 
 
Prior to the adoption of ASC 326, loans and financings were considered impaired when, 
based on current information and events, it was probable the Company would be unable 
to collect all amounts due in accordance with the original contractual terms of the 
agreements. When determining if the Company would be unable to collect all principal 
and interest and financing income payments due in accordance with the contractual 
terms of the loan or financing agreement, the Company considered the borrower's 
capacity to pay, which included such factors as the borrower's current financial 
statements, an analysis of global cash flow sufficient to pay all debt obligations and an 
evaluation of secondary sources of repayment, such as guarantor support and collateral 
value. The tables below include all loans and financings deemed impaired, whether or 
not individually assessed for impairment. If a loan or financing was deemed impaired, a 
specific valuation allowance was allocated, if necessary, so that the loan or financing 
was reported net, at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan's or 
financing’s existing rate or at the fair value of collateral if repayment was expected solely 
from the collateral. Interest and financing payments on impaired loans and financings 
were typically applied to principal unless collectability of the principal amount was 
reasonably assured, in which case interest and financing income was recognized on a 
cash basis. 
 
The following table presents loans and financings individually evaluated for impairment 
by class of loans and financings, as of December 31, 2022. 
 

Unpaid Average 

Recorded Principal Related Recorded

 Investment Balance Allowance Investment

With an allowance recorded:

Commercial -$                -$                -$                -$                 

Commercial real estate 427,241        427,241        1,923            462,519          

Consumer/credit card -                -                -                -                  

Residential real estate 1,634,233     1,634,233 4,804            1,700,460

Total 2,061,474$     2,061,474$     6,727$            2,162,979$      

 

2022

 
Interest and financing income recognized for the time that loans and financings were 
impaired during 2022 was not significant.  
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 
Credit Quality 
 
The following tables present informative data by class of loan and financing regarding 
their age and interest or financing income accrual status at December 31, 2023 and 
2022. 
 

December 31, 2023 Current 30-59 Days 60-89 Days ≥ 90 Days

 Commercial 42,496,497$   11,557$          -$                -$                11,557$          42,508,054$   

 Commercial real estate 114,725,218  175,668 117,610 - 293,278 115,018,496  

 Consumer 4,623,642     363 - - 363 4,624,005     

 Credit card 50,380          - - - - 50,380          

 Residential real estate 566,654,103  170,484        - 4,821,939 4,992,423     571,646,526  

      Total  728,549,840$ 358,072$        117,610$        4,821,939$     5,297,621$     733,847,461$ 

Total Loans 

and 

Financings

Total Past 

Due

Past Due

 

December 31, 2022 Current 30-59 Days 60-89 Days ≥ 90 Days

 Commercial 6,716,861$     -$                -$                -$                -$                6,716,861$     

 Commercial real estate 93,057,364   - - - - 93,057,364   

 Consumer 1,615,763     - - - - 1,615,763     

 Credit card 65,268          - - - - 65,268          

 Residential real estate 439,387,187  595,123        - 16,068,284 16,663,407   456,050,594  

      Total  540,842,443$ 595,123$        -$                16,068,284$   16,663,407$   557,505,850$ 

Past Due Total Loans 

and 

Financings

Total Past 

Due

 
Included in the residential real estate loans and financings past due over 90 days are 
$3,861,742 and $14,568,065 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of 
delinquent residential loans that the Company has the option to buy back as further 
discussed in Note 1. The principal balances of these loans are fully guaranteed by 
GNMA. 
 
The following table is a summary of the Company's nonaccrual loans and financings by 
major categories at December 31, 2023 and 2022.  
 

Incurred Loss

Nonaccrual Nonaccrual

Loans and Loans and Total

Financings With Financings With Nonaccrual Nonaccrual

 No Allowance an Allowance Loans Investment

Commercial -$                -$                -$                -$                

Commercial real estate -                -                -                -                

Consumer/credit card -                -                -                -                

Residential real estate 260,665        699,532 960,197        1,500,219

Total 260,665$        699,532$        960,197$        1,500,219$     
 

CECL

December 31, 2023

December 31, 

2022
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 
At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company also had $-0- and $150,704, 
respectively, of loans and financings held for sale or assignment that were on 
nonaccrual status. The Company did not recognize any significant interest and financing 
income on nonaccrual loans and financings during the years ended December 31, 2023 
and 2022, nor did the Company write off any significant accrued interest and financing 
income receivable during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
The Company has a grading system to help evaluate and classify the Company’s loan 
and financing portfolio with respect to credit quality and risk. 
 
The Company reviews commercial loans and financings on a regular basis and 
categorizes those loans and financings into risk categories based on relevant 
information about the ability of the customers to service their loan or financings, 
including financial information, payment experience, credit documentation, public 
information, and current economic trends.  
 
Commercial loans and financings that are considered to be of lesser quality are 
considered substandard, doubtful, or loss (classified). The Company considers a loan or 
financing substandard when there is an inadequate primary or secondary source of 
repayment, hence inadequately protected by the current net worth and financial capacity 
of the borrower or of the collateral pledged, if any. Substandard loans and financings 
include those in which there is the distinct possibility that the Company will sustain some 
loss of principal if the deficiencies are not corrected. Loans and financings that are 
classified as doubtful have all of the weaknesses inherent in those loans and financings 
that are classified substandard, but also have the added characteristic that the 
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, 
conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable. Loans and financings 
classified as loss, are those considered uncollectible and of such little value that their 
continuance as an asset is not warranted, and the uncollectible amounts are charged off.  
 
Loans and financings that do not expose the Company to risk sufficient to warrant 
classification in one of the aforementioned categories, but which possess some 
weakness, are designated as special mention. A special mention loan or financing has a 
potential weakness that deserves close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential 
weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset or in 
the Company’s credit position at some future date. Special mention assets are not 
adversely classified and do not expose the Company to sufficient risks to warrant 
classification. Special mention loans and financings are included with substandard 
performing loans and financings in the following table. Commercial loans and financings 
not meeting the above criteria are considered to be pass rated loans and financings. 
 
For residential real estate and consumer loans and financings, the Company uses 
payment status to monitor the credit risk in these loans and financings. Substandard 
loans and financings are those that are ninety days or more past due. Residential real 
estate and consumer loans and financings that don’t meet these criteria are considered 
performing. 
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 
The following table presents the Company's recorded investment in loans and financings 
by credit quality indicators by year of origination as of December 31 2023:  
 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior Revolving Total

Commercial Real Estate

Pass 33,069,153$   30,315,719$   24,831,284$   7,831,218$      7,802,946$     10,513,749$   -$                114,364,069$  

Classified - performing -                175,133        -                16,346            -                462,948        -                654,427         

Classified - nonperforming -                -                -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Doubtful -                -                -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Loss -                - -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Total Commercial Real Estate 33,069,153$   30,490,852$   24,831,284$   7,847,564$      7,802,946$     10,976,697$   -$                115,018,496$  

Current period gross write-offs -$                -$                -$                -$                 -$                -$                -$                -$                

Commercial 

Pass 21,612,573$   19,072,338$   425,842$        774,163$         265,216$        357,922$        -$                42,508,054$   

Classified - performing -                -                -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Classified - nonperforming -                -                -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Doubtful -                -                -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Loss -                - -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Total Commercial 21,612,573$   19,072,338$   425,842$        774,163$         265,216$        357,922$        -$                42,508,054$   

Current period gross write-offs -$                -$                -$                -$                 -$                -$                -$                -$                

Residential Real Estate

Performing 113,202,866$ 284,494,867$ 16,513,439$   6,550,008$      905,972$        4,298,102$     140,125,683$ 566,090,937$  

Substandard 200,829        1,145,696 -                1,236,037       446,824        2,526,203     -                5,555,589      

Total Residential Real Estate 113,403,695$ 285,640,563$ 16,513,439$   7,786,045$      1,352,796$     6,824,305$     140,125,683$ 571,646,526$  

Current period gross write-offs -$                -$                49,522$          -$                 -$                -$                -$                49,522$          

Consumer/Credit Card

Performing 3,481,795$     1,094,616$     -$                21,306$           26,288$          -$                50,380$          4,674,385$     

Substandard -                - -                -                  -                -                -                -                 

Total Consumer/Credit Card 3,481,795$     1,094,616$     -$                21,306$           26,288$          -$                50,380$          4,674,385$     

Current period gross write-offs -$                -$                -$                -$                 -$                -$                -$                -$                

Term Loans and Financings by Year of Origination

2023
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 

The following table presents the Company's recorded investment in loans and financings 
by credit quality indicators as of December 31, 2022: 

Commercial

Real Estate Commercial Total

Grade

Pass 93,057,364$   6,716,861$     99,774,225$   

Classified - performing - - - 

Classified - nonperforming - - - 

Doubtful - - - 

Loss - - - 

Total 93,057,364$   6,716,861$     99,774,225$   

Residential Consumer/

Real Estate Credit Card Total

Grade

Performing 453,231,362$ 1,681,031$     454,912,393$ 

Substandard 2,819,232     - 2,819,232

Total 456,050,594$ 1,681,031$     457,731,625$ 

2022

Modifications Made to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty 

The allowance for credit losses incorporates an estimate of lifetime expected credit 
losses and is recorded on each asset upon asset origination or acquisition. The starting 
point for the estimate of the allowance for credit losses is historical loss information, 
which includes losses from modifications of receivables to borrowers experiencing 
financial difficulty. An assessment of whether a borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulty is made on the date of a modification. Because the effect of most modifications 
made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already included in the allowance 
for credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to estimate the 
allowance, a change to the allowance for credit losses is generally not recorded upon 
modification. In some cases, the Company will modify a certain loan or financing by 
providing multiple types of concessions, typically term extension or interest rate 
reduction. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not 
have a significant amount of loan or financing modifications for borrowers experiencing 
financial difficulty. 
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NOTE 4 – MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES 
 
University Bank provides sub-servicing of real estate mortgage loans for almost 400 
financial institutions. The unpaid principal balance of these loans was approximately 
$30.5 billion and $31.1 billion as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The 
value of the mortgage servicing rights associated with these sub-serviced loans belong 
to the customer and therefore are not included in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
University Bank, Arbor Street, and UIF sell residential mortgage loans and financings to 
the secondary market with servicing rights retained for selected loans and financings. 
These loans and financings are owned by other institutions and are not included in the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheets, but the associated MSRs are included in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such mortgage loans and financings 
have been sold or assigned generally without recourse or with limited recourse. The 
unpaid principal balance of these loans and financings was $3.9 billion and $3.2 billion at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Custodial escrow balances maintained in connection with these loans and financings 
were approximately $417 million and $437 million, of which approximately $85 million 
and $88 million were held at other banks and were not included in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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NOTE 4 – MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES (Continued) 
 
The following summarizes the activity relating to MSR’s: 
 

December 31,

2023 2022

Balance, January 1 32,970,830$   35,941,257$   

Amount capitalized 9,253,352     9,009,206     

Reductions from sales -                (19,453,044)  

Change in fair value due to:

Pay-offs and pay-downs (2,046,941)    (3,380,636)    

Changes in market conditions 352,807        10,854,047   

Balance, December 31 40,530,048$   32,970,830$   

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company sold MSRs for $19,453,044, of 
which $17,538,082 was received in 2022, and $1,914,962 was received in 2023.  
 
The Company enters into IRLCs in connection with its mortgage banking activities to 
fund residential mortgage loans and financings within specified times in the future. As of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, IRLCs amounted to approximately $41.9 million and 
$36.7 million, respectively, of which management estimated approximately $35.6 million 
and $31.7 million, respectively, to eventually close and be funded. These IRLCs were 
recorded in assets in the consolidated balance sheets at a fair value of $986,989 and 
$664,454 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
 
The Company also utilizes forward loan and financing sales commitments in order to 
economically hedge the risk of potential changes in the value of the loans and financings 
that would result from the IRLCs. Forward sales commitments to fund loans and 
financings at specified rates amounted to approximately $93.8 million and $102.8 million 
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These forward commitments were 
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at a fair value in liabilities of $825,479 as of 
December 31, 2023 and in assets of $904,375 as of December 31, 2022.  
 
The net change in fair value of the IRLCs and the related forward loan and financing 
sales commitments held at December 31, 2023 and 2022 resulted in a loss of 
$1,407,319 and $1,272,344, respectively, which have been recognized in the noninterest 
income section in the consolidated statements of operations. These gains and losses 
are due principally to the inclusion of day one gains/losses associated with the adoption 
of fair value accounting as discussed in Note 24. Prior to companies being permitted to 
adopt fair value accounting, the recognition of such day one gains/losses was prohibited, 
and these gains/losses were not recognized until realized through the sale or 
assignment of the related loans and financings. 
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NOTE 4 – MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES (Continued) 
 
Market interest rate conditions can quickly affect the fair value of MSRs, IRLCs, and 
forward loan and financing sales commitments in a positive or negative fashion, as long-
term interest rates rise and fall. See Note 24 for further discussion of management’s 
assumptions used in determination of fair value of these assets and liabilities.  
 
 
NOTE 5 – PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET 
 
Premises and equipment consist of the following: 
 

December 31,

 2023 2022

Land 1,043,400$     1,043,400$     

Buildings and improvements 7,293,947     7,208,074     

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and software 15,525,755   15,132,812   

Construction in process 741,284        68,500          

24,604,386   23,452,786   

Less accumulated depreciation and

amortization (16,150,698)  (14,521,650)  

Premises and equipment, net 8,453,688$     8,931,136$     

Depreciation and amortization expense related to premises and equipment amounted to 
$1,644,731 and $1,833,168 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 
 
Leases 
 
The Company leases office space for its operations under operating leases. Several 
leases have an option to renew at the Company’s discretion for an additional term. Only 
lease options that the Company believes are reasonably certain to be exercised are 
included in the measurement of lease assets and liabilities. The Company’s present 
leases have a weighted average remaining term of 6.9 years.  
 
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded 
$1,909,222 and $-0-, respectively of operating lease right of use assets obtained in 
exchange for operating lease liabilities. 
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NOTE 5 – PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Continued) 

Leases (Continued) 

Maturities of operating lease liabilities for office space are as follows: 

Years ending December 31, Amount

2024 902,246$    

2025 752,877 

2026 645,660 

2027 637,100 

2028 646,952 

Thereafter 1,540,458 

Total minimum future payments 5,125,293 

Less: Present value discount (959,903)       

Present value of operating lease liabilities 4,165,390$     

The weighted average discount rate used to calculate the present value of future lease 
payments was 5.8%. Operating lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 
and 2022 totaled $1,198,876 and $1,401,560, respectively. These operating lease 
expense amounts include short-term and variable lease expense. 

NOTE 6 – GOODWILL 

The following table summarizes goodwill by reporting unit: 

December 31,

2023 2022

Midwest 103,914$    103,914$    

AAIC 319,067 319,067 

422,981$    422,981$    

NOTE 7 – CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS, NET 

During 2020, AAIC acquired customer relationships of $620,691 as part of the 
acquisition of a local insurance agency. These customer relationships are being 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives, which were 
determined to be 10 years. Amortization expense amounted to $62,068 for each of the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The carrying value of customer 
relationships totaled $382,761 and $444,829 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 8 – TIME DEPOSITS 
 
Non-brokered time deposit liabilities issued in denominations of $250,000 or more were 
$12,589,215 and $1,066,646 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
 
At December 31, 2023, stated maturities of time deposits were: 
 

Years ending December 31, Brokered time

2024 34,107,904$   -$                   

2025 2,108,661     19,950,000       

2026 3,690,507     45,107,000       

2027 45,714          65,000,000       

2028 and thereafter 1,702,008     113,475,000     

 41,654,794$   243,532,000$     

Non-brokered 

time

 
 
NOTE 9 – DEFERRED COMPENSATION  
 
The Company had a deferred compensation agreement (the “Agreement”) with one of its 
key employees that provided this employee with a phantom interest in the net income of 
ULG based on years of service. During 2022 the Agreement was dissolved. In relation to 
the Agreement, the Company recognized compensation expense of $4,257 during the 
year ended December 31, 2022, and had remaining unpaid accrued deferred 
compensation of $4,246,666 as of December 31, 2022 that was paid in full during 2023. 
The accrued deferred compensation is included in “Accrued expenses and other 
liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets.  
 
 
NOTE 10 – CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION LIABILITY 
 
The Company has a contingent consideration agreement as part of a 2019 acquisition, 
which could require the Company to pay the former owner annually through 2025 if 
certain loan production thresholds are met. The fair value of the contingent consideration 
liability related to the acquisition was $-0- as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
Contingent consideration payments were made during the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022 totaling $-0- and $272,336, respectively. 
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NOTE 11 – INCOME TAXES 
 
Income tax expense (benefit) is summarized as follows: 
 

December 31,

2023 2022

Current expense (benefit)

Federal 149,665$      3,913,782$   

State 108,802 210,199

258,467 4,123,981

Deferred expense (benefit)

Federal 1,539,084$   (2,867,030)$  

State 473,356 (137,904)

2,012,440 (3,004,934)

Income tax expense, net 2,270,907$   1,119,047$   

The effective tax rate varies from the current U.S. federal statutory income tax rate as 
follows: 

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022

Statutory rate 21.0% 21.0%

State income taxes 2.4% 1.3%

Permanent differences -0.9% -1.4%

Change in expected rate of realization 

of deferred state income taxes 2.7% 0.0%

Other -0.2% 0.1%

Effective rate 25.0% 21.0%

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company determined that the rate at 
which it expects to realize its deferred state income taxes has increased, resulting in an 
increase to the deferred tax liability and tax expense of $244,622. 
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NOTE 11 – INCOME TAXES (Continued) 
 
Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
consist of the following: 
 

December 31,

2023 2022

Deferred income tax assets:

Allowance for credit losses 

and recourse liabilities 988,685$      755,217$        

Equity securities 171,166 189,205

Accrued liabilities - 343,781

Other 191,824 80,898

1,351,675 1,369,101      

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Mortgage and financing servicing rights (9,321,911) (7,253,583)

Derivatives and LHFS (465,780) (214,968)

Premises and equipment (487,539) (811,255)

Other (3,068) (3,478)

(10,278,298) (8,283,284)     

Net deferred tax liability (8,926,623)$  (6,914,183)$    

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state 
jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income 
tax examinations by tax authorities for years before calendar year 2020. 
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NOTE 12 – CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK 

The Company’s preferred stock has a liquidation preference over its common stock. The 
shares have a $100 per share liquidation value, on which cumulative dividends accrue at 
6% per annum, payable quarterly. When the tangible book value of the Company, as 
defined in the preferred stock certificate of designation, reaches at least seven times the 
value of the liquidation value of preferred shares, the 6% preferred dividends become 
noncumulative and are paid quarterly only if declared by the Company’s Board of 
Directors. The Company can’t declare or pay dividends to any other classes of stock 
until the cumulative preferred dividends are paid, along with any noncumulative 
preferred dividends declared.  

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to 
the preferred stock certificate of designation. Under this amendment, the remaining 
outstanding convertible preferred shares shall participate with the holders of common 
stock, if common stock dividends are declared in an amount over two percent of the 
market value on an annual basis, on a pro rata basis applying the then-applicable 
conversion rate to each share of preferred stock, as defined in the amendment.  

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, preferred dividends of $411,372 
and $-0-, respectively, were paid out. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, $-0- and 
$270,972, respectively of the preferred dividends are accrued in the consolidated 
balance sheet. 

Each share of preferred stock can be converted into common stock initially at a rate of 
$10 preferred stock liquidation value per common share. The conversion price is subject 
to certain antidilution provisions as defined in the stock certificate designation. Beginning 
December 20, 2023, the Company may cause some or all of the preferred stock to be 
converted into common stock at the then prevailing conversion price, if the closing price 
of the Company’s common stock exceeds 130% of the then applicable conversion price 
for twenty out of thirty consecutive trading days. The holder is also prevented from 
exercising the conversion right if, after the conversion, it results in the holder owning 
more than one third of the Company’s outstanding equity. 

The Company had -0- and 24,000 shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  

On December 20, 2023, the Company triggered the conversion of the remaining 24,000 
preferred shares into 240,000 common shares. These 240,000 common shares 
were issued out of treasury shares. On the conversion date, the liquidation value of
these preferred shares totaled $2,400,000 and the carrying value totaled $2,280,000.
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NOTE 13 – TREASURY STOCK 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repurchased 441,381 
common shares at an aggregate cost of $3,994,498. These treasury stock shares are 
recorded at cost in the consolidated statement of equity. The Company reissued 
240,000 and 40,000 shares out of treasury during the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively, upon the conversion of preferred shares in 2023, 
and the exercise of certain stock options in 2022. 

NOTE 14 – STOCK OPTIONS 

The Company sometimes issues stock options to directors of the Company in lieu of 
board fees paid in cash. The following tables summarize the activity relating to options to 
purchase the Company’s common stock: 

Weighted 

Weighted Average

Number Average Remaining 

of Exercise Contractual 

Options Price Term in Years

Outstanding at January 1, 2022 40,000          7.00$    

Granted - -$   

Exercised (40,000) 7.00$    

Expired or forfeited - -$   

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 - -$   

Granted - -$   

Exercised - -$   

Expired or forfeited - -$   

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 - -$   - 

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company received cash of 
$-0- and $280,000, respectively, related to the exercise of options. As of the exercise 
dates, the intrinsic value of the options exercised in 2023 and 2022 was approximately 
$-0- and $422,400, respectively. 
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NOTE 14 – STOCK OPTIONS (Continued) 
 
The Company recognizes compensation cost relating to share-based payment 
transactions in the consolidated financial statements. That cost is measured based on 
the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. The fair value of the Company’s 
options was determined pursuant to the Black-Scholes model at the date of issuance. As 
the options vest, the Company recognizes compensation expense in earnings. As of 
December 31, 2021, all options were fully vested. As a result, the Company did not have 
any share based compensation expense during the years ended December 31, 2023 
and 2022. 
 
The grant date fair value of options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model, which values options based on the stock price at the grant date, expected term of 
the option, expected volatility of the stock, expected dividend payments, exercise price, 
and risk-free interest rate over the expected term of the option. The Company accounts 
for any forfeitures of options when they occur.  
 
The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for estimating the fair value of 
traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Because 
option valuation models require the use of subjective assumptions, changes in these 
assumptions can materially affect the fair value of the options. As the Company’s options 
do not have the characteristics of traded options, the option valuation models do not 
necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of its options.  
 
 
NOTE 15 – NONCONTROLLING INTEREST 
 
Included in the consolidated financial statements are the results for UIF. The Bank owns 
80% of the common stock of UIF. An outside investor owns the remaining 20%. At 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, total equity of UIF was $53,054,118 and $46,188,813, 
respectively. The noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 
$10,610,825 and $9,237,764, respectively.  
 



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Page 48 

NOTE 16 – EARNINGS PER SHARE 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share: 

Years ended December 31, 

2023 2022

Basic earnings per share

Net income attributable to stockholders 5,426,558$     3,789,400$    

Less: cumulative dividends on 

preferred stock (140,400) (168,960)       

Net income attributable to 

common stockholders 5,286,158$     3,620,440$    

Weighted-average common 

shares outstanding 4,936,751 4,919,463 

Basic earnings per share 1.07$    0.74$    

Diluted earnings per share

Net income attributable to common 

stockholders - diluted $     5,286,158 3,620,440$    

Weighted-average common 

shares outstanding - basic 4,936,751 4,919,463 

Dilutive effect of stock options - 17,571 

Weighted-average common 

shares outstanding - diluted 4,936,751 4,937,034

Diluted earnings per share 1.07$    0.73$    

NOTE 17 – EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP AND RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN 

The Bank has an employee stock ownership and retirement savings plan (the “Plan”) 
that allows employees of the Bank and the Bank’s subsidiaries to contribute a portion of 
their salary pre-tax, to the allowable limit prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service 
(the “401(k) Component”). Management has discretion to make matching contributions 
to the Plan. All amounts have been funded or accrued at each respective balance sheet 
date. Matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 totaled 
$1,307,724 and $1,439,122, respectively.  
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 NOTE 17 – EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP AND RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN 
(Continued) 

The Company may also make discretionary contributions to the employee stock 
ownership component (the “ESOP Component”). A participant’s share in the Company’s 
ESOP contribution is based on his or her current compensation as a percentage of total 
employee compensation. Upon retirement from the Company, participants can receive 
distributions of their allocated shares of the Company’s stock. During the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no compensation expense related to 
ESOP contributions as no contributions were made during either year.  

The annual contribution to the ESOP is at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 
Assets of the ESOP include 239,003 shares of the Company’s stock at December 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively, all of which were fully allocated. The shares of the ESOP 
are held in trust and were valued at $3,585,045 and $4,048,711 at December 31, 2023 
and 2022, respectively.  

NOTE 18 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Commitments 

The Bank is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal 
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial 
instruments include commitments to fund lines of credit and credit card limits. The 
Bank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of non-performance is equal to or less than 
the contractual amount of these instruments. The Bank follows the same credit policy to 
make such commitments as that followed by loans recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements.  

The following is a summary of commitments: 

December 31,

2023 2022

Unused lines of credit 94,237,445$   23,346,229$   

Commitment to fund residential loans 52,932,458     42,403,780     

Commitment to fund commercial loans 3,763,054       5,596,900       

Unused credit card limits 168,879          174,159          

Unused home equity lines of credit 58,418,195     43,177,301     

Unused commitments for residential 

construction 18,081,463     23,819,716     

227,601,494$   138,518,085$   
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NOTE 18 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued) 

 
Loss Reserves 
 
Crescent is a participant in a quota share reinsurance agreement with other unrelated 
captive insurance companies collectively referred to as the “Pool”. The reinsurance 
agreement is between Crescent and each Pool participant. The quota share participation 
percentage includes a portion of Crescent’s own ceded Pool premium. The premium 
ceded by Crescent is then pooled with the ceded premiums from all other participating 
captives and redistributed back to each captive as assumed premium according to its 
participation percentage. Ceded and assumed losses are treated in the same manner. 
The reinsured claims are subject to per occurrence limits up to $1,500,000, excess 
varying deductibles, and aggregate limits up to $3,500,000 per participant. The policies 
are written on a claims-made basis of coverage within the policy year and include a 60-
day extended reporting period. 
 
The liability for loss and loss adjustment expense reserves represents the estimated 
ultimate net cost of all reported and unreported losses incurred through the balance 
sheet date. The loss reserves are estimated on an undiscounted basis, using individual 
case-basis valuations and statistical analyses utilizing actuarial studies of Crescent’s 
historical experience and industry data. In establishing its aggregate liability for loss and 
loss adjustment expenses, the Company utilizes the findings of an independent 
consulting actuary. The principal methodologies utilized by the actuary are the loss 
development method and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method. Crescent projects an 
estimate of ultimate loss and loss adjustment expenses at each reporting date. Although 
considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, management believes the loss 
reserves are adequate. The estimates are continually reviewed and adjusted as 
necessary as experience develops or new information becomes known. Such 
adjustments are included in current operations. However, because of uncertainty 
associated with the limited population of insured risks, current economic conditions, 
judicial decisions, legislation and other matters, actual loss experience may not conform 
to the assumptions used in determining the estimated amounts for such liabilities at the 
balance sheet date. Accordingly, the ultimate liability could be significantly in excess of 
or less than the amount indicated in the financial statements. 
 
Crescent’s loss and loss adjustment expense reserves at December 31, 2023 totaled 
$54,000 and are included in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated 
balance sheet. Crescent commenced operations in March 2023. 
 
Contingencies 
 
The Company from time to time may maintain cash balances with other financial 
institutions in excess of insured limits. Management has deemed this as a normal 
business risk. 
 
The Company has been party to various legal claims that have arisen from time to time 
in the normal course of business. Any impact of these legal claims has been reflected in 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
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NOTE 19 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Available lines of credit to directors, officers and their affiliates at both December 31, 
2023 and 2022 amounted to $70,000, of which $17,062 and $16,005 had been borrowed 
against, respectively. The Company has closed and sold related party loans during the 
normal course of business. These loans were performing pursuant to terms at December 
31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
The Bank had demand deposits of $1,576,980 and $1,558,644 from directors, officers 
and their affiliates as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Bank also holds 
demand deposits from various employees in the normal course of business.  
 
 
NOTE 20 – LINES OF CREDIT 
 
The Bank has a line of credit available from the FHLB. The limit on this line is 
$9,000,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The line is secured by the pledge of 
specific mortgage loans held for investment along with FHLB stock and certain 
investment securities. At both December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Bank’s outstanding 
balance on the line was $-0-. This line matures in May 2024. 
 
During 2022, the Parent entered into a $10,000,000 line of credit with a bank. Interest on 
the line is due quarterly at the prime rate, with a floor of 3.25% and a ceiling of 6.25%. 
The Parent may borrow on this line through October 2024, on which date the line 
converts to a term note with payments due quarterly based on 120 month amortization, 
with a balloon payment due at maturity in October 2025. This line is secured by certain 
assets, including a life insurance policy and all outstanding shares of common stock of 
University Bank. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, advances on the line totaled 
$1,000,000 and $-0-, respectively. The line is subject to certain restrictive financial 
covenants. 
 
The Company also has a $1,000,000 revolving warehouse line of credit with a bank so 
that UIF could meet a state licensing requirement. The Company does not intend to 
draw on this line. Interest on this line is at the greater of the prime rate or 5%. This line is 
secured by financings and matures in August 2024. At both December 31, 2023 and 
2022, there was no outstanding balance on this line of credit. 
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NOTE 21 – FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK ADVANCES AND OTHER BORROWINGS 
 
FHLB Advances 
 
In addition to the FHLB line of credit discussed in Note 20, the Company regularly 
borrows money from the FHLB on a short-term basis. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
the Company could take advances up to approximately $189,200,000 and $98,600,000, 
respectively. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had amounts due to the 
FHLB for short-term advances totaling $105,000,000 and $50,000,000, respectively. The 
outstanding advances at December 31, 2023 bore interest at 5.76% per annum, and all 
mature in 2024. The Company had additional borrowing capacity under this FHLB 
advance line of approximately $84,200,000 and $48,600,000 as of December 31, 2023 
and 2022, which was based on qualified collateral, as determined by the FHLB.  
 
Subordinated Notes 
 
During 2023 and 2022, the Parent issued $13,500,000 and $14,500,000, respectively, of 
subordinated debt (the "Notes") with a maturity date of January 31, 2033. The Notes 
bear interest at 8.25% through January 31, 2028, and at a variable rate tied to SOFR 
thereafter until maturity. Principal is due at maturity, and interest is due semi-annually. 
The Company has the option to redeem all or a part of the Notes beginning on January 
31, 2028, or earlier in the event of a Tier 2 Capital Event, Tax Event, or Investment 
Company Event, as defined in the Notes. In conjunction with the issuance of the Notes, 
during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred $328,270 
and $374,464, respectively, in debt issuance costs which are amortized to interest 
expense over the term of the Notes. As a result, the carrying value of the Notes 
amounted to $27,403,539 and $14,125,536 in the consolidated balance sheet at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company entered into an interest rate 
swap with a notional amount of $28,000,000. The fair value of this swap was not 
material at December 31, 2023. 
 
 
NOTE 22 – REGULATORY MATTERS 
 
Dividend Restriction 
 
Banking regulations require the maintenance of certain capital levels and limits the 
amount of dividends that may be paid by a bank to a holding company or by a holding 
company to shareholders. The Bank paid dividends to University Bancorp, Inc. totaling 
$681,000 and $2,913,000 during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. University Bancorp, Inc. declared and paid common stock dividends 
totaling $-0- and $2,218,283 during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.  
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NOTE 22 – REGULATORY MATTERS (Continued) 
 
Regulatory Capital Requirements 
 
The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the 
federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate 
certain mandatory and possibly additional, discretionary actions by regulators that, if 
undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt 
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative 
measures of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as 
calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The Bank’s capital amounts and 
classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators about components, 
risk weightings, and other factors.  
 
The Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act was passed in 
2018. Included among the provisions was the Community Bank Leverage Ratio 
(“CBLR”), a special alternative capital framework available only to banks holding less 
than $10 billion in assets. On April 6, 2020, the federal banking regulators issued interim 
rules which modified the CBLR framework so that: (i) beginning in the second quarter 
2020 through the end of 2020, a banking organization that has a leverage ratio of 8% or 
greater and meets certain other criteria may elect to use the CBLR framework; and (ii) 
community banking organizations had until January 1, 2022, before the CBLR 
requirement was reestablished at greater than 9%. Under the interim rules, the minimum 
CBLR was 8% beginning in the second quarter and for the remainder of calendar year 
2020, 8.5% for calendar year 2021, and 9% thereafter. The interim rules also maintain a 
two-quarter grace period for a qualifying community banking organization whose 
leverage ratio falls no more than 1% below the applicable community bank leverage 
ratio.  
 
The Bank has opted into the CBLR framework. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the 
Bank's CBLR ratio was 10.05% and 10.30%, respectively, which exceeded the 
regulatory capital requirements under the CBLR framework and the Bank was 
considered to be ‘‘well-capitalized”. Federal law requires each federal banking agency to 
take prompt corrective action to resolve the problems of insured financial institutions, 
including but not limited to those that fall below one or more of the prescribed minimum 
capital ratios. As discussed above, a qualifying community banking organization, such 
as the Bank, that opts into the CBLR framework and meets all requirements under the 
framework will be considered to have met the well-capitalized ratio requirements under 
the prompt corrective action regulations and will not be required to report or calculate 
risk-based capital. 
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NOTE 23 – OTHER CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
The Bank, Arbor Street and UIF are each subject to certain capital requirements in 
connection with seller/servicer agreements that these entities have entered into with 
secondary market investors. Failure to maintain minimum capital requirements could 
result in these entities’ inability to originate and service loans for the respective investor 
and, therefore, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
The Bank’s, Arbor Street’s, and UIF’s actual capital amounts and the minimum amounts 
required for capital adequacy purposes, by investor, are as follows: 
 

Actual Minimum 
Capital Capital

As of December 31, 2023:

Bank

HUD 89,255,757$   2,500,000$     

FHLMC 100,680,095$ 4,201,171$     

FNMA 100,680,095$ 3,463,540$     

GNMA 100,575,339$ 4,238,456$     

Arbor Street

HUD 5,331,057$     1,000,000$     

FHLMC 5,334,586$     2,505,084$     

FNMA 5,334,586$     2,721,126$     
UIF

FHLMC 50,146,079$   6,511,206$     

FNMA 50,146,079$   4,254,321$     

Actual Minimum 

Capital Capital
As of December 31, 2022:

Bank

HUD 71,360,405$   2,500,000$     

FHLMC 81,382,435$   4,138,723$     

FNMA 81,382,435$   3,272,544$     

GNMA 81,320,050$   6,303,895$     

Arbor Street

HUD 5,959,404$     1,395,890$     

FHLMC 7,886,508$     2,505,322$     

FNMA 7,886,508$     2,748,768$     
UIF

FHLMC 43,323,338$   5,928,200$     
FNMA 43,323,338$   3,943,592$     
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NOTE 23 – OTHER CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (Continued)  
 
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Bank, Arbor Street, and UIF were also each 
required to have a minimum amount of liquid assets under certain liquidity requirements 
and were in compliance with these requirements. 
 
 
NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
The ASC standards establish a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the 
highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the 
lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Determining which hierarchical level an asset or 
liability falls within requires significant judgment.  
 
Hierarchical levels, as defined by the standards and directly related to the amount of 
subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and liabilities, are 
as follows: 

 
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for 
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and 
are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. 

 
Because valuation methodologies require the use of subjective assumptions, changes in 
these assumptions can materially affect fair value. Furthermore, the reported fair value 
amounts have not been comprehensively revalued since the presentation dates, and 
therefore, estimates of fair value after the balance sheet date may differ significantly 
from the amounts presented herein. A description of the valuation methodologies used 
by the Company for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general 
classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy, is set forth below.  
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Investment Securities 
 
The fair value of the securities represents the amount the Company would realize upon 
sale of the securities currently in the portfolio. The Company receives current fair values 
of its marketable debt securities from The Federal Home Loan Bank on a monthly basis 
as part of its collateral positions. These marketable debt securities are Level 2 assets in 
the valuation hierarchy. The Company determines the fair value of its marketable equity 
securities using quoted prices in active markets. Hence, these marketable equity 
securities are Level 1 assets in the valuation hierarchy. The Company determines the 
fair value of its non-marketable equity securities using a price-based methodology, which 
utilizes, where available, quoted prices or other market information obtained from recent 
trading activity in positions with the same or similar characteristics to the position being 

valued, along with quantitative assessments of the fair value of securities using various 

valuation methodologies and involves the use of estimates. Hence, these marketable 

equity securities are Level 3 assets in the valuation hierarchy. 
 
Loans and Financings Held for Sale or Assignment  
 
The Company elected to account for certain loans and financings held for sale or 
assignment at fair value. These loans and financings held for sale or assignment are 
recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices, where available, or are 
determined by discounting cash flows using interest rates approximating the Company’s 
current origination rates for similar loans and financings and adjusted to reflect the 
inherent credit risk. In most situations, these loans and financings are locked into 
buckets to be sold under forward loan and financing sales commitments (as discussed 
below), in which case the fair value of these loans and financings held for sale or 
assignment are approximated by the value to be received soon thereafter under the 
forward sales commitments. Loans and financings held for sale or assignment are Level 
2 assets in the valuation hierarchy. Net changes in the fair value of the Company’s loans 
and financings held for sale or assignment are included in earnings. The net change in 
fair value of loans and financings held for sale or assignment at December 31, 2023 and 
2022 was a gain of $1,863,623 and a loss of $591,705, respectively, which is included in 
the noninterest income section in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
MSRs 
 
The fair value of MSRs represents the amount that the Company would receive upon the 
sale of the MSRs. The Company receives an independent valuation of its MSRs on a 
quarterly basis. The fair value of MSRs is determined by projecting cash flows which are 
then discounted to estimate an expected fair value. The fair value of MSRs is impacted 
by a variety of quantitative factors (including a range of the assumptions used): expected 
servicing life (3.1-4.3 years), discount rates (9%-12%), float rate (1.5%), servicing costs 
($76-$96), and underlying observable portfolio characteristics. Because many of these 
inputs are not transparent in market trades, MSRs are Level 3 assets in the valuation 
hierarchy.  
 
Derivatives – IRLCs and Forward Commitments 
 
The Company estimates the fair value of an IRLC subsequent to inception of the 
commitment. In estimating the fair value of an IRLC, the Company assigns a probability 
to the loan or financing commitment based on an expectation that it will be exercised, 
and the loan or financing will be funded. The fair value of IRLCs, while based on interest 
rates observable in the market, is highly dependent on the ultimate closing of the loans 
or financings. These “pull-through” rates are based on the Company’s historical data and 
reflect an estimate of the likelihood that a commitment will ultimately result in a closed 
loan or financing.  
 
Also, the fair value of these commitments is derived from the fair value of the related 
mortgage loans or financings. Unobservable quantitative factors used in the valuation of 
IRLCs include the following (including a range of the assumptions used): pull-through 
rates (63%-99%). Because some inputs are not transparent in market trades, IRLCs are 
Level 3 assets or liabilities in the valuation hierarchy. Changes in the fair value of the 
IRLCs are recognized based on interest rate changes, changes in the probability that the 
commitment will be exercised, and the passage of time. Changes from the expected 
future cash flows related to the customer relationship or loan or financing servicing are 
excluded from the valuation of IRLCs.  
 
The fair value of forward sales commitments is based primarily on the fluctuation of 
interest rates between the date on which the particular forward sales commitment was 
entered into and year end. Unobservable inputs include (including a range of the 
assumptions used): volatility, counterparty credit risk. Forward commitments are 
considered to be Level 3 assets or liabilities in the valuation hierarchy.  
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Real Estate Owned 
 
Real estate properties acquired in collection of a loan or financing are recorded at fair 
value upon foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. After foreclosure, management 
periodically performs valuations to ensure real estate is carried at lower of cost or fair 
value, less estimated costs to sell. Fair value of the real estate is estimated by 
considering appraisals, which are updated on a periodic basis to reflect current housing 
market conditions.  
 
Contingent Consideration Liability 
 
The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is determined by management 
based on projected future originations, which drives the amount of the contingent 
consideration obligation that will actually be paid. As this measure is based on significant 
inputs that are not observable in the market, the Company classifies the contingent 
consideration liabilities within level 3. 
 
The following tables summarize assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, segregated by the level of the 
valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2023

Assets:

Investment securities 16,803,275$       45,612$             

Loans and financings held 

for sale or assignment 63,883,059$      

Mortgage and financing 

servicing rights 40,530,048$ 

Interest and financing

rate lock commitments 986,989$      

Liabilities:

Forward sales commitments 825,479$      

Contingent consideration -$              
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2022

Assets:  

Investment securities 9,522,489$         61,507$             

Loans and financings held 

for sale or assignment 64,776,830$      

Mortgage and financing 

servicing rights 32,970,830$ 

Interest and financing

rate lock commitments 664,454$      

Forward sales commitments 904,375$      

Liabilities:

Contingent consideration -$              

 
The table below includes a roll forward of the fair value of assets and liabilities that are 
classified by the Company within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy: 
 

Forward Contingent 

Sales Consideration

MSRs IRLCs Commitments Liability

Fair value at January 1, 2022 35,941,257$   2,983,702$     (142,529)$       (404,530)$    

Purchases, sales, issuances,

settlements, net (10,443,838)   (2,983,702)     142,529         272,336      

Net gains (losses) 7,473,411      664,454         904,375         132,194      

Fair value December 31, 2022 32,970,830    664,454         904,375         -              

Purchases, sales, issuances,

settlements, net 9,253,352      (664,454)        (904,375)        -              

Net gains (losses) (1,694,134)     986,989         (825,479)        -              

Fair value December 31, 2023 40,530,048$   986,989$        (825,479)$       -$             

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the only assets or liabilities valued at fair 
value on a nonrecurring basis was real estate owned which was recorded at fair value of 
$593,478. There were no assets or liabilities valued on a nonrecurring basis during the 
year ended December 31, 2022.  
 
The methodologies for estimating the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis are discussed 
below.  
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for cash and cash equivalents, 
restricted cash, FHLB stock and FHLB advances. The methodologies for other financial 
assets and financial liabilities are discussed below. 
 
Loans and Financings 
 
The fair value of fixed-rate loans and financings is estimated by discounting the future 
cash flows for each loan and financing category using the current rates at which similar 
loans or financings would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the 
same remaining maturities. These loans and financings are considered to be Level 2 
assets in the valuation hierarchy. The fair value of adjustable-rate loans is assumed to 
approximate their carrying amount.  
 
Time Deposits 
 
The fair value of time deposits is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using 
the market rates offered for similar deposits with the same remaining maturities. These 
time deposits are considered to be Level 2 liabilities in the valuation hierarchy. 
 
Subordinated Debt 
 
The fair value of fixed-rate debt is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using 
the current rates at which similar debt would be issued. This debt is considered to be a 
Level 2 liability in the valuation hierarchy.  
 
The estimated fair values of financial instruments in which fair value differs from carrying 
value are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Significant financial assets:
Securities, at amortized cost 17,110$           16,301$        11,527$    10,441$    
Non-marketable equity securities 1,093               1,093            1,093        1,093        

Loans and financings, net 729,674           708,999        553,889    533,367    

Significant financial liabilities:
Deposits:
   Time 285,187           286,758        246,071    242,042    

Line of credit 1,000               1,000            -            -            

Subordinated debt 28,000             28,000          14,500      14,500      

2023 2022

December 31,

All other financial instruments not presented in the table above had fair values that did 
not differ from their carrying values. 
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Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the consolidated financial 
statements of University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet 
as of December 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income, equity, and cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 28, 2024. Our opinion contained an “Emphasis 
of Matter” paragraph regarding a change in accounting principle. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered University Bank’s (the Bank) 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. Accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Bank’s 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Bank’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Bank’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 

 
 
Fort Wayne, Indiana 
March 28, 2024



 

 

Report on Compliance for Each Major HUD Program and Report on Internal 
Control over Compliance Required by the Consolidated Audit Guide for Audits of 
HUD Programs 

Independent Auditor’s Report78F 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 

Report on Compliance for Each Major HUD Program 

Opinion on Each Major HUD Program 

We have audited University Bank’s  (the Bank) compliance with the compliance requirements described in 
the Consolidated Audit Guide for Audits of HUD Programs (the audit guide) that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of the Bank’s major U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 
programs for the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company’s major HUD programs and the related 
direct and material compliance requirements are as follows: 

Name of Major HUD Programs Direct and Material Compliance Requirements 

GNMA Federal financial reports; eligibility to issue mortgage-
backed securities; review of the custodial documents;
issuer’s administration of pooled mortgages; review of 
monthly accounting reports and quarterly submissions:
securities marketing and trading practices: adjusted net 
worth; institution wide capital requirements; and liquid asset 
requirements.  

Title II Quality control plan; loan origination; loan servicing; federal 
financial and activity reports; lender annual recertification;
adjusted net worth; liquidity and licensing; loan settlement;
escrow accounts and kickbacks 

In our opinion, University Bank complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major HUD programs for the year ended 
December 31, 2023.  
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Basis for Opinion on Each Major HUD Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit guide. Our responsibilities under those standards and the audit guide are further 
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance” section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Bank and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements related to our audit. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion on compliance for each major HUD program. Our audit does not provide a legal 
determination of the Bank’s compliance. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to its HUD programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the Bank’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the audit guide will always detect material noncompliance when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Bank’s 
compliance with the requirements of each Major HUD program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the audit guide, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the Bank’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred 
to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of the Bank’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report 
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the audit guide, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Other Matters 

We noted certain matters that we are required to report to management of the Bank in a separate written 
communication. These matters are described in our management letter dated March 28, 2024. 
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a HUD 
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that material noncompliance with a compliance requirement of a HUD program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a compliance 
requirement of a HUD program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance” section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the audit 
guide. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 

 
 
Fort Wayne, Indiana 
March 28, 2024 



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF ADJUSTED NET WORTH TO DETERMINE

COMPLIANCE WITH HUD NET WORTH REQUIREMENTS

FHA servicing portfolio at December 31, 2023 425,859,346$   

FHA originations during 2023 93,807,458

FHA purchases during 2023 -

Total FHA loan activity 519,666,804

FHA originations during 2023 retained at

   December 31, 2023 -

FHA purchases during 2023 retained at

   December 31, 2023 -

Total adjustments -

Total adjusted FHA loan activity 519,666,804   

Minimum net worth required 1,000,000       

Additional net worth required (1% of total adjusted 

FHA loan activity greater than $25,000,000) 4,946,668       

Total net worth required (maximum $2,500,000) 2,500,000$      

Stockholder's equity per

  balance sheet 101,485,837$   

Less unacceptable assets

Real estate assets not part of home office (5,880,532)      

Intangible assets (805,742)         

Other asets (104,756)         

Prepaid expenses (5,439,050)

Adjusted net worth 89,255,757$    

Adjusted net worth above (below) required 
   minimum amount 86,755,757$    

December 31, 2023

See independent auditor's report. Page 66



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF LIQUIDITY TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE

WITH HUD LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents 23,974,324$   

Total liquid assets 23,974,324$   

Total net worth required (minimum $1,000,000

maximum $2,500,000) 2,500,000$     

Liquidity required (20% of total net worth required) 500,000$        

Liquidity assets above (below) required minimum amount 23,474,324$   

December 31, 2023

See independent auditor's report. Page 67



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF ADJUSTED NET WORTH TO DETERMINE

COMPLIANCE WITH GINNIE MAE NET WORTH REQUIREMENTS

December 31, 2023

Adjusted net worth calculation:

Stockholder's equity per statement of financial

condition at end of reporting period 101,485,837$    

Less:

Unacceptable assets

Intangible assets (805,742)

Other assets (104,756)

Adjusted net worth 100,575,339$    

Required net worth calculation:

Unpaid principal balance of securities outstanding

(Note: number of pools = 312) 426,930,588$    

Plus:

Outstanding balance of commitment authority

 issued and requested 69,771,229

Total outstanding portfolio and commitment authority 496,701,817$    

Required net worth 4,238,456$        

Excess net worth: 96,336,883$      
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UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF GINNIE MAE CAPITAL REQUIREMENT 

December 31, 2023

Capital requirement for depository institutions:

Tier 1 capital 88,736,000$    

Total assets for the leverage ratio 882,525,000$   

Community bank leverage ratio 10.05%

Yes/No

Meets requirement? Yes
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UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF GINNIE MAE LIQUID ASSET REQUIREMENT 

December 31, 2023

Cash and cash equivalents 23,974,324$         

Total liquid assets 23,974,324$         

Total outstanding portfolio and commitment authority 496,701,817$       

Liquidity required (greater of $1,000,000 or .10% of securities) 1,000,000$          

Liquidity assets above (below) required minimum amount 22,974,324$         

Yes/No

Meets requirement? Yes
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UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF GINNIE MAE INSURANCE REQUIREMENT 

December 31, 2023

Identification of affiliated Ginnie Mae issuers:

Affiliated Ginnie Mae issuers:

Affiliated issuers on same insurance policies:

Required insurance calculation:

Servicing portfolio

Ginnie Mae 426,930,588$         

Fannie Mae 1,087,619,699

Freddie Mac 2,284,951,011

Conventional (other) 590,937,575

Total servicing portfolio 4,390,438,873$      

Required fidelity bond coverage 4,915,439$             

Required mortgage servicing errors and

omissions coverage 4,915,439$             

Verification of insurance coverage:

Fidelity bond coverage at end of reporting period 20,000,000$           

Mortgage servicing errors and omissions

coverage at end of reporting period 20,000,000$           

Excess (deficit) insurance coverage:

Fidelity bond coverage 15,084,561$           

Mortgage servicing errors and omissions coverage 15,084,561$           

Policies contain the required elements: Yes/No

Fidelity bond coverage Yes

Mortgage servicing errors and omissions coverage Yes

University Bank 4444
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University Bank 
Schedule of Findings, Questioned Costs, and Recommendations 
Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 
 
Corrective Actions Not Started or In Process 

Reference 
Number Finding Questioned Costs 

 Our audit disclosed no findings that are required to be 
reported herein under the HUD Consolidated Audit Guide.   

 

 

Corrective Actions Completed 

Reference 
Number Finding Questioned Costs 

 Our audit disclosed no findings that are required to be 
reported herein under the HUD Consolidated Audit Guide.   

 

 




